



Whistleblowing Policy

Date	Revision amendment details	By whom
December 2019	Review and approval by Operations Group	Operations Group
December 2019	Adopted by TEFAT Board Trust	Trustees
	Proposed date for review subject to statutory update as required	HR Director

Table of contents

- 1 Table of contents
- 2 Related policies and documents
- **3 Definitions**
- **3 Elliot Foundation Academies Trust Vision and Values**
- 4 Policy statement and objectives
- 5 Scope and principles
- **5** Whistleblowing definitions
- 6 Safeguards
- 7 How to raise a concern
- 8 The role of senior leaders
- 9 Raising concerns outside the Trust 12
- Appendix 1: Trade Union and Whistleblowing Prescribed External Bodies 13

Related policies and documents

- Finance Policy
- Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy
- Conflicts of Interest Policy
- Expenses Policy
- Gifts & Hospitality Policy
- Procurement and Tendering Policy
- IT and Internet Acceptable Use Policy
- Data Protection Policy
- Freedom of Information Policy
- Health and Safety Policy
- Disciplinary Policy
- Procedure for Dealing with Allegations Against a Staff Member
- Grievance Policy
- Equality and Diversity Policy
- Pay Policy
- Safeguarding Policy

Definitions

- Where the word 'Trust' is used in this document it refers to The Elliot Foundation Academies Trust.
- Where the word 'Governing Body' is used it refers to the Local Governing Body of an individual academy within the Trust.
- Where appropriate the Local Governing Bodies of individual academies will publish details of the procedures and practices to implement Trust policies.

Elliot Foundation Academies Trust Vision and Values Vision

The Elliot Foundation was created as a safe place for children and teachers where all are nurtured to achieve beyond even their own expectations. Our motto, "Where children believe they can because teachers know they can" reflects our conviction that raising expectations for all children and teachers is at the heart of a successful and inclusive society.

Values

For children

We help children to discover themselves and aspire beyond any limitations that their context might appear to place upon them. We help them understand that they can be, 'Heroes of their own lives' building the foundations for healthy and successful lives.

For schools

In addition to the essential functional skills of reading, writing and mathematics, children need to learn how to learn and to believe that they can continue to do so. They must also possess the critical thinking skills to sift fact from fiction to be able to think for themselves, freely and creatively.

For success

To thrive, whatever their chosen path, children need confidence, curiosity and commitment. We will nurture these attitudes across all their learning experiences

For communities

Children at Elliot schools will be raised with an awareness of the world around them and their role in shaping a better future through volunteering and contributing in their communities.

1. Policy statement and objectives

1.1. The Elliot Foundation Academies Trust is committed to the highest possible standard of operation, probity and accountability. In line with that commitment, the Trust will ensure a transparent, clear, robust approach to dealing with whistleblowing to enable relevant individuals to raise serious concerns which relate to suspected wrongdoing or dangers at work without fear of reprisals and with confidence that they will be dealt with swiftly and appropriately.

1.2. Training and guidance in relation to whistleblowing will be provided to all staff to ensure that they know how to raise whistleblowing concerns and the procedure that will be used to deal with them.

2. Scope and principles

2.1. This policy sets out the Trust's approach and procedure for dealing with concerns raised by individuals which relate to suspected wrongdoing or dangers at work. Certain types of allegations will be dealt with in line with other relevant policies and statutory guidance, where applicable.

2.2. This policy applies to Trustees, governors, employees, officers, consultants, contractors, volunteers, casual workers and agency workers.

2.3. Whilst the aim of this policy is to provide an internal mechanism for effectively dealing with concerns relating to wrongdoing or dangers, it is recognised that there may be exceptional circumstances in which it would be appropriate for an individual to refer the matter to a relevant outside agency. However, individuals are strongly advised to seek advice from either their Trade Union or a body such as Public Concern at Work prior to taking this action to ensure that this is appropriate and should be aware that to do so, may invalidate the protection afforded to them by The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.

2.4. This policy aims to:

a. provide avenues for individuals to raise concerns which fulfil the definition of whistleblowing (see paragraph 3.2) internally as a matter of course and receive feedback on any action taken;

b. provide for such matters to be dealt with quickly and appropriately and ensure that whistleblowing concerns are taken seriously and treated consistently and fairly;

c. reassure individuals that they will be protected from reprisals or

victimisation for whistleblowing where they have a genuine concern;

d. allow individuals to take the matter further if they are dissatisfied with the Trust's response.

2.5. Before initiating the procedure individuals should consider the following:

a. the responsibility for expressing concerns about unacceptable practice or behaviour rests with all individuals;

b. employees should use line manager or team meetings and other opportunities to raise questions and seek clarification on issues which are of day-to-day concern;

c. whilst it can be difficult to raise concerns about the practice or behaviour of a colleague, individuals should act to prevent an escalation of the problem and to prevent themselves being potentially implicated.

2.6. This policy should not be used for complaints about an employee's personal circumstances, such as the way he/she has been treated at work. In these cases an employee should use the Trust's relevant procedures which may include those contained in the Grievance Policy, Equality and Diversity Policy and/or Pay Policy.

2.7. As individuals working directly with the Trust are often the first to realise that there may be something wrong within the organisation, it is important that they feel able to express their concerns without fear of harassment or victimisation, otherwise they may find it easier to ignore the concern rather than report it. The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 recognises this fact and is designed to protect individuals who make certain disclosures of information in 'the public interest', from detriment and/or dismissal. This policy builds on the provisions of the Act.

2.8. This policy does not form part of any employee's contract of employment and it may be amended at any time following appropriate consultation with staff and recognised trade unions.

3. Whistleblowing definitions

3.1. A **whistleblower** is a person who raises a genuine concern relating to the matters below. If individuals have any genuine concerns related to suspected wrongdoing or danger affecting any Trust or academy activities (a whistleblowing concern) he/she should report it under this policy.

3.2. **Whistleblowing** is the disclosure of information which the individual reasonably believes relates to suspected wrongdoing or dangers at work. The disclosure must be *made in the public interest* rather than for personal gain and may include matters which are:

- a. a criminal offence
- b. the breach of a legal obligation
- c. a miscarriage of justice
- d. a danger to the health and safety of any individual
- e. damaging to the environment
- f. a deliberate attempt to conceal any of the above.

4. Safeguards

4.1. Harassment or Victimisation

- 4.1.1. The Trust recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a difficult one to make, not least because of the fear of reprisal from those responsible for the alleged concern/malpractice. The Trust will not tolerate harassment or victimisation and will take action to protect individuals when they have a genuine concern that they have acted on in an honest and reasonable manner.
- 4.1.2. If an individual is already the subject of internal procedures such as disciplinary or redundancy, those procedures will not be halted as a result of that individual raising a concern under the Whistleblowing Policy, save for exceptional circumstances.

4.2. Confidentiality

4.2.1. This policy is intended to enable individuals to feel able to voice whistleblowing concerns openly under this policy. The Trust/academy will make every effort to protect a whistleblower's identity and will never disclose the individual's identity without first discussing the situation with them.

4.3. Anonymous Allegations

4.3.1. Individuals are encouraged to put their name to an allegation. Proper investigation may be more difficult or impossible if the Trust/academy cannot obtain further information and it is also more difficult to establish whether allegations are credible. Anonymous allegations will be considered at the discretion of the Trust/academy. In exercising

such discretion, the factors to be taken into account will include:

- the seriousness of the issues raised;
- the credibility of the concern; and
 - the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources.

4.4. Untrue Allegations

4.4.1. If an individual makes an allegation where he/she has a genuine concern, but it is not confirmed by the investigation, no action will be taken against that individual. If, however, the Trust concludes that an individual has made malicious or vexatious allegations, or with a view to personal gain, disciplinary action may be taken against that individual if they are an employee or steps taken to sever the working relationship between the Trust/academy and the individual if they are a Trustee, governor, officer, consultant, contractor, volunteer, casual worker or agency worker.

4.5. Unfounded Allegations

4.5.1. Following investigation, allegations may be confirmed as unfounded. This outcome will be notified to the individual who raised the concern, who will be informed that the Trust/academy deems the matter to be concluded and that it should not be raised again unless new evidence becomes available.

4.6. Support to Individuals

4.6.1. It is recognised that raising concerns can be difficult and stressful.

Advice and support will be made available, as appropriate, to both the individual(s) raising the concerns and any individual(s) subject to investigation. The individuals will also be encouraged to seek the advice and support of their trade union if applicable.

5. How to raise a concern

5.1. The means of making a disclosure will depend to some extent on the nature and seriousness of the concern, the sensitivity of the issues and the individual(s) thought to be involved in the malpractice reported.

5.2. As a first step, an individual should normally raise concerns with their immediate manager or their manager's superior (or main Trust/academy contact if the individual is not an employee). This enables the issue to be addressed at a local level. However, this depends on the seriousness and sensitivity of the issues and who is involved and therefore, if the individual believes they cannot raise the concerns with their line manager or their manager's superior, s/he should contact one of the following:

- a. a senior leader
- b. the Principal
- c. the Executive Principal (if applicable)
- d. a member of the central HR Team
- e. the HR Director
- f. the Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
 - g. the Chair of Governors or Chair of the Board of Trustees

5.3. Concerns in relation to the CEO/Chair of the Board of Trustees

An individual can by-pass the direct management line and the governance structure of the Trust if s/he feels the overall management and governance of the Trust is engaged in an improper course of action. This would include concerns relating to the practice of the CEO and/or Chair of the Board of Trustees. In this case please refer to section 7 below.

7

5.4. Concerns are better raised in writing and as promptly as possible. The individual should set out the background and history of the concerns, giving names, dates and places where possible, and the reasons why s/he is particularly concerned about the situation. If an individual does not feel able to put the concern in writing, s/he should telephone or meet the appropriate person they wish to raise the concerns with. It is important that, however the concerns are raised, the individual makes it clear that s/he is raising the issue via the Whistleblowing Policy and the individual receiving the information treats it seriously and responds properly and fairly.

5.5. Although an individual is not expected to prove the truth of an allegation, s/he will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are sufficient grounds for the concerns.

5.6. In some instances it may be appropriate for an employee to ask their trade union to raise a matter on their behalf.

5.7. At each meeting under this policy the individual may bring a workplace colleague or trade union representative. The companion must respect the confidentiality of the disclosure and any subsequent investigation.

6. The role of senior leaders

6.1. Those responsible for dealing with concerns raised via this policy will seek appropriate HR advice from the Trust's HR Team as appropriate. They will treat them seriously and attempt to resolve them as quickly as possible.

6.2. A senior leader who is informed by an individual about concerns which fall under the remit of this policy should arrange to meet with the individual to discuss the concerns as soon as possible.

6.3. Stage One:

At the initial meeting the senior leader should establish whether:

a. there is genuine cause and sufficient grounds for the concerns; and

b. this policy is the appropriate mechanism for the concerns to be dealt with.

6.4. They should ask the individual to put their concerns in writing, if they have not already done so. If the individual is unable to do this, the senior leader will take down a written summary of the concerns and provide the individual with a copy after the meeting.

6.5. The written record of the concerns should make it clear that the individual is raising the issue via the Whistleblowing Policy and provide:

a. the background and history of the concerns; and

b. relevant names, dates and places (where possible); and

c. the reasons why the individual is particularly concerned about the situation.

6.6. The individual should be asked to date and sign their written record of the concerns and/or the notes of any discussion. The senior leader should positively encourage the individual to do this, as a concern expressed anonymously is much less powerful and much more difficult to address, especially if the letter/notes become evidence in other proceedings, e.g. an internal disciplinary hearing.

6.7. The senior leader should follow the policy as set out above and in particular explain to the individual:

a. who he/she will need to speak to in order to determine the next steps (e.g. Executive Principal/Principal/CEO);

b. what steps s/he intends to take to address the concern;

c. how s/he will communicate with the individual during and at the end of the process. It should be noted that the need for confidentiality may prevent the academy giving the individual specific details of any necessary investigation or any necessary disciplinary action taken as a result;

d. that the individual will receive a written response as soon as is reasonably practicable;

e. that their identity will be protected as far as possible, but should the investigation into the concern require the individual to be named as the source of the information, that this will be discussed with the individual before their name is disclosed;

f. that the Trust will do all that it can to protect the individual from discrimination and/or victimisation;

g. that the matter will be taken seriously and investigated immediately if appropriate;

h. that if the individual's concern, though raised as a genuine concern, is not confirmed by the investigation, no punitive action will be taken against them;

i. if clear evidence is uncovered during the investigation that s/he has made a malicious or vexatious allegation, disciplinary action may be taken against them; and

j. the investigation may confirm their allegations to be unfounded in which case the Trust will deem the matter to be concluded unless new evidence becomes available.

6.8. Stage Two:

Following the initial meeting with the individual, the senior leader should consult with the Executive Principal, Principal, Chief Executive Officer or Chair of Governors/Board of Trustees to determine whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it should take. A record should be made of the decisions and/or agreed actions. Records will be treated as confidential and will be kept no longer than necessary in accordance with data protection legislation.

6.9. It may be necessary, with anonymous allegations, to consider whether it is possible to take any further action. When making this decision, senior leaders should take the following factors into account:

- a. the seriousness of the issue(s) raised;
- b. the credibility of the concern(s); and
- c. the likelihood of confirming the allegation(s) from attributable sources.
- 6.10. In some cases, it may be possible to resolve the concerns simply, by agreed action or an explanation regarding the concerns, without the need for further investigation. However, depending on the nature of the concerns, it may be necessary for them to:
 - a. be investigated internally;
 - b. be referred to the police;
 - c. be referred to an external auditor;
 - d. form the subject of an independent inquiry.
- 6.11. Senior leaders should have a working knowledge and understanding of other Trust policies and procedures such as the Grievance Policy, Disciplinary Policy and safeguarding related policies and procedures. They should ensure that concerns raised by individuals are addressed via the appropriate procedure/process and should seek advice in relation to this from the Trust's HR Team as appropriate.

6.12. Stage Three

Within ten working days of a concern being received, the senior leader receiving the concern (at paragraph 5.1 above) must write to the individual:

a. acknowledging that the concern has been received;

b. indicating how they propose to deal with the matter;

c. giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a substantive response; and/or

d. telling the individual whether any initial enquiries have been made; and

e. telling the individual whether further investigations will take place, and if not why not; and/or

f. letting the individual know when s/he will receive further details if the situation is not yet resolved.

7. Raising concerns outside the Trust

7.1. The aim of this policy is to provide an internal mechanism for reporting, investigation and remedying any wrongdoing in the workplace. In most cases the individual should not find it necessary to alert anyone externally. The law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate for the individual to report his/her concerns to an external body such as a regulator. Individuals are strongly encouraged to seek advice either from their line manager, the Trust's central HR Team or their trade union before reporting a concern to anyone external to the Trust.

7.2. If an individual is not satisfied with the Trust's response to concerns raised legitimately under this policy, the senior leader should ensure that s/he is made aware with whom s/he may raise the matter externally. Details of prescribed persons and bodies are provided at Appendix 1.

7.3. The senior leader should stress to the individual that if s/he chooses to take a concern outside the Trust, it is the individual's responsibility to ensure that

Appendix 1: Trade Union and Whistleblowing Prescribed External Bodies

In most cases whistleblowing concerns should be dealt with via the internal procedure available. However, the law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate for the individual to report his/her concerns to an external body such as a regulator.

Individuals are strongly encouraged to seek advice, such as from their trade union representative, before reporting a concern externally outside of the Trust.

The details below identify recognised trade union contacts and prescribed external persons and bodies to whom a whistleblowing disclosure can be made.

Recognised Trade Unions	UNISON UNISON Centre 130 Euston Road London NW1 2AY T: 0800 0 857 857 GMB T: 020 7391 6700 E: info@gmb.org.uk UNITE Unite House 128 Theobalds Road Holborn London WC1X 8TN NEU Hamilton House Mabledon Place London WC1H 9BD T: 0345 811 8111 NASUWT Member Support Advice Team T: 03330 145550 E: advice@mail.nasuwt.org.uk	Trade Unions will be able to offer their members advice and support in relation to whistleblowing concerns.

	ASCL T: 0116 2991122 NAHT 1 Heath Square Boltro Road Haywards Heath West Sussex RH16 1BL T: 0300 30 30 333 E: info@naht.org.uk	
Ofsted	The Chief Inspector Ofsted Piccadilly Gate Store Street Manchester M1 2WD T: 0300 123 3155 E: whistleblowing@ofsted.gov.uk	Contact them about education specific matters and those relating to the welfare of children
The Standards and Testing Agency	Standards and Testing Agency Cheylesmore House Ground Floor South Building 5 Quinton Road Coventry CV1 2WT E: assessments@education.gov.uk T: 0300 303 3013	Contact them about assessments for children in education between reception and the end of key stage 2
Secretary of State for Education	Ministerial and Public Communications Division Department for Education Piccadilly Gate Store Street Manchester M1 2WD T: 0370 000 2288 W: www.gov.uk/contact-dfe	Contact them about matters relating to our academies or the Trust
The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)	Ministerial and Public Communications Division Department for Education Piccadilly Gate Store Street Manchester M1 2WD	Contact them about funding for education and skills for children, young people and adults.

The Environment Agency	National Customer Contact Centre PO Box 544 Rotherham S60 1BY T: 03708 506 506 W: www.gov.uk/environment-agency	Contact them about acts and omissions which have an actual or potential effect on the environment or the management or regulation of the environment.
Equality and Human Rights Commission	Equality and Human Rights Commission Correspondence Unit (Whistleblowing) Fleetbank House 2-6 Salisbury Square London EC4Y 8JX T: 0161 829 8100 E: whistleblowing@equalityhumanrights.com W: www.equalityhumanrights.com/whistleblowin g	Contact them about compliance with the requirements of legislation relating to equality and human rights.
The Food Standards Agency (FSA)	Food Standards Agency Floors 6 and 7 Clive House 70 Petty France London SW1H 9EX T: 020 7276 8829 E: helpline@food.gov.uk W: www.food.gov.uk	Contact them about matters which may present a risk to the health of any member of the public in connection with the production, supply or consumption of food
The Health and Safety Executive	T: 0300 003 1647 W: www.hse.gov.uk/contact/concerns.htm	Contact them about the health and safety of individuals at work, or the health and safety of the public arising out of or in connection with the activities of persons at work
The Pensions Regulator	The Information Team Napier House Trafalgar Place Brighton BN1 4DW Tel: 0345 600 7060 Email: wb@tpr.gov.uk Website: www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk	Contact them about matters relating to the protection of members' benefits under work-based pension schemes and the administration and governance of such schemes, including automatic enrolment

Commissioner s for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC)	HMRC Fraud Hotline Cardiff CF14 5ZN T: 0800 788 887 W: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-re venue-customs/contact/reporting-tax-evasion	Contact them about the administration of UK taxes and national insurance
The Information Commissioner	The Information Commissioner's Office Wycliffe House Water Lane Wilmslow SK9 5AF Tel: 0303 123 1113 Email: casework@ico.org.uk Website: www.ico.org.uk	Contact them about compliance with the requirement of legislation relating to data protection and freedom of information